SCA EFiled: Nov 20 2023 05:08PM EST

In the Supreme Court of Appeals of West Virginia Transaction ID 71455801

No. 23-569

Camden-Clark Memorial Hospital Corp.; Camden-Clark Health Services, Inc.; West Virginia United Health System, Inc. d/b/a West Virginia University Health System; and West Virginia University Hospitals, Inc., *Petitioners*,

V.

Marietta Area Healthcare, Marietta Memorial Hospital, and Marietta Healthcare Physicians, Inc.,

Respondents.

On Certified Question from the United States District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia Case No. 5:23-cv-131

### **BRIEF OF PETITIONERS**

Andrew B. Cooke
Natalie B. Atkinson
Tessa L. Adkins
THOMAS COMBS & SPANN, PLLC

This case is before the Court for consideration of certified questions from the United States

District Court for the Northern District of West Virginia ("the Northern District"). In its Order of

Certification, the Northern District framed the certified questions as follows:

- 1. Is a claim for negligent supervision against an employer viable under West Virginia common law?
- 2. If yes, what are the elements of the claim?
- 3. Can intentional or reckless torts committed by an employee form the basis for a claim for negligent supervision against the employer?<sup>1</sup>

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Background

The certified questions presented here arose out of the Northern District's consideration of Petitioners Camden-Clark Memorial Hospital Corp. ("CCMC"); Camden-Clark Health Services, Inc. ("CCHS"); West Virginia United Health System, Inc., d/b/a West Virginia University Health System ("WVUHS"); and West Virginia University Hospitals, Inc.'s ("WVUH") (collectively, "Camden-Clark/WVUHS") Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint filed by Respondents Marietta Area Healthcare, Marietta Memorial Hospital, and Marietta Healthcare Physicians, Inc.'s (collectively, "Marietta").<sup>2</sup>

Camden-Clark Memorial Hospital and Marietta Memorial Hospital are hospitals serving patients in and around the neighboring communities of Parkersburg, West Virginia and Marietta, Ohio, respectively.<sup>3</sup> On November 22, 2016, two individuals in the healthcare industry in and around Parkersburg, West Virginia, Michael A. King and Dr. Michael D. Roberts ("Relators"),

1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> J.A. 000842, Northern District's Partial Dismissal Order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> J.A. 000794–842, Northern District's Partial Dismissal Order.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> J.A. 000069, J.A. 000370.

filed a *Qui Tam* against Marietta under seal in the Northern District, challenging Marietta's physician compensation and recruiting practices under the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. §§ 3729–3733 ("FCA"). *See United States ex rel. King et al.*, 5:16-cv-175 (N.D. W. Va.) ("*Qui Tam*").<sup>4</sup> The action was stayed under 31 U.S.C. § 3730(b)(2) while the Department of Justice ("DOJ") investigated.<sup>5</sup>

The filing of a *qui tam* case invites the government to investigate the allegations and decide whether to intervene and join in prosecution of the case. 31 U.S.C. §§ 3730(a) & (c). While the Northern District repeatedly extended the stay in the *Qui Tam* matter at DOJ's request, DOJ ultimately decided not to intervene. On March 23, 2020, upon Relators' request and with DOJ's consent, the Northern District dismissed the *Qui Tam* without prejudice. The docket was unsealed on April 24, 2020.

### II. Procedural History

#### A. Marietta I Trial and Settlement

Five months after the *Qui Tam* docket became public, Marietta sued Relators. See Marietta Area Healthcare, Inc., et al. v. Michael A. King, et al., 2:20-cv-639 (S.D. W. Va.); 5:21-cv-25 (N.D. W. Va.) ("Marietta I"). By complaint filed September 25, 2020, Marietta alleged Relators manufactured false and unsupported *Qui Tam* allegations and asserted claims for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Qui Tam Complaint, J.A. 000097–165.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The investigation reportedly lasted from November 22, 2016, to March 23, 2020, and the DOJ asked the *Qui Tam* Court for (and apparently received) six 180-day extensions. J.A. 000200–44 (Ex. A, Defs.' Mem. Supp. Mot. Summ. J., *Marietta I* at 6 (N.D. W. Va. Jan. 3, 2023), ECF No. 329).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> J.A. 000063–96, Second Am. Compl., ¶ 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> J.A. 000245–59, Ex. B, Relators' Notice of Voluntary Dismissal Without Prejudice, *Qui Tam* (Mar. 20, 2020), ECF No. 42; Ex. C, United States' Notice of Consent to Dismissal, *Qui Tam* (Mar. 20, 2020), ECF No. 41; Ex. D, Order, *Qui Tam*, (Mar. 23, 2020), ECF No. 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> J.A. 000260–63, Ex. E, Am. Order, *Qui Tam* (Apr. 24, 2020), ECF No. 45.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> J.A. 000264–357, Ex. F, Compl., *Marietta I* (S.D. W. Va. Sept. 25, 2020), ECF No. 4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> J.A. 000264–357.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> J.A. 000264–357, *Id.* ¶¶ 1 - 6, 13, 33, 35, 49 – 51, 62, 64.

malicious prosecution, tortious interference, abuse of process, and fraudulent legal process. <sup>12</sup> On February 3, 2022, Marietta amended its complaint to add a third individual, Todd A. Kruger, as a defendant and to assert a conspiracy claim against all defendants. <sup>13</sup> Kruger was identified as the "Vice-President and General Counsel to Camden Clark Health Services, Inc. located in Parkersburg, West Virginia" <sup>14</sup> and alleged to be a "fellow – but unnamed relator." <sup>15</sup>

Marietta's claims against Relators settled before trial. Marietta's claims against Kruger – CCMC's former general counsel – were tried to a jury between March 27 and 31, 2023. The proceedings ended in a mistrial. Marietta and Kruger then reached a settlement. On May 18, 2023, the Court dismissed Kruger with prejudice and closed the case. 19

#### B. Marietta II

The instant case represents Marietta's second attempt to avenge the *Qui Tam* filed against it by Relators. On April 5, 2023, while *Marietta I* was still pending, Marietta filed *Marietta II* against CCMC and CCHS, repeating five of the Marietta I claims – malicious prosecution, tortious interference, abuse of process, fraudulent legal process, and civil conspiracy – and asserting two "new" claims for aiding and abetting allegedly tortious conduct and vicarious liability.<sup>20</sup> All of Marietta's claims in *Marietta II* are based on the events from *Marietta I* – alleged authorization of,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> J.A. 000264–357. *See id.* ¶¶ 69 - 98.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> J.A. 000358–66, Ex. G, Pls. Mot. Leave File Am. Compl., *Marietta I* (N.D. W. Va. Feb. 3, 2022), ECF No. 97.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> J.A. 000367–463, Ex. H, Am. Compl., *Marietta I* (N.D. W. Va. Feb. 11, 2022), ECF No. 107, ¶ 12.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> J.A. 000358–66, Ex. G, Pls.' Mot. Leave File Am. Compl., *Marietta I* at 5.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> J.A. 000467–82, *See* Ex. J, Joint Mot. Dismiss Michael D. Roberts, M.D., *Marietta I* (N.D. W. Va. Feb. 24, 2023), ECF No. 428; Ex. K, Order, *Marietta I* (N.D. W. Va. Feb. 24, 2023), ECF No. 429; Ex. L, Joint Mot. Dismiss Michael A. King, *Marietta I* (N.D. W. Va. Mar. 24, 2023), ECF No. 490; Ex. M, Order, *Marietta I* (N.D. W. Va. Mar. 24, 2023), ECF No. 491.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> J.A. 000173, Defs.' Mem. Supp. Mot. Dismiss, *Marietta II* (N.D. W. Va. Aug. 21, 2023), ECF No. 33). <sup>18</sup> J.A. 000173.

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> J.A.000483–88, *See* Ex. N, Proposed Order Dismissing Todd A. Kruger, *Marietta I* (N.D. W. Va. May 17, 2023), ECF No. 546; Ex. O, Order, *Marietta I* (N.D. W. Va. May 18, 2023), ECF No. 547.
 <sup>20</sup> J.A. 000001–29.

involvement in, or responsibility for the filings of the *Qui Tam*; actions taken by Relators and Kruger; and the alleged financial losses to Marietta arising from the United States' FCA investigation. On May 1, 2023, Marietta filed the First Amended Complaint adding WVUHS and WVUH.<sup>21</sup> Camden-Clark/WVUHS filed a Motion to Dismiss Marietta's First Amended Complaint on June 30, 2023, but it was rendered moot by the Court upon Marietta's filing of a Motion for Leave to File Second Amended Complaint.

On July 31, 2023, Marietta obtained leave to file a Second Amended Complaint to assert a claim for negligent supervision.<sup>22</sup> That claim – Count VI of the Second Amended Complaint – focuses on the employment supervision of Kruger, CCMC's former general counsel. Count VI alleges that Camden-Clark/WVUHS "failed to properly supervise, if not entirely failed to supervise, Kruger and others in the pursuit and assistance in the pursuit of the *qui tam* action."<sup>23</sup>

On August 21, 2023, Camden-Clark/WVUHS filed a Motion to Dismiss the Second Amended Complaint based on res judicata, FCA preemption, statute of limitations, and, as to Count VI, failure to state a claim.<sup>24</sup> Regarding Count VI, Camden-Clark/WVUHS argued that Marietta's claim for negligent supervision was based entirely on alleged *intentional* misconduct of Kruger and others, while West Virginia precedent recognizes a claim for negligent supervision only where the underlying conduct is *negligent*.<sup>25</sup> On September 1, 2023, Marietta responded, urging the Northern District to certify a question concerning the scope of the claim of negligent supervision,<sup>26</sup> and Camden-Clark/WVUHS replied on September 8.<sup>27</sup> On September 18, 2023,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> J.A.000030–62.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> J.A.000063–96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> J.A. 000063–96.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> J.A. 000167–99, Mot. Dismiss.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> J.A. 000167–99.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> J.A.000691–717.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> J.A. 000777–93.

the Northern District issued an order denying Camden-Clark/WVUHS's claims as to Counts I, II, III, IV, V, VII, and VIII, and deferring its determination of Count VI (Negligent Supervision) pending the outcome of the certified questions presented here.<sup>28</sup>

# III. Marietta Alleges Camden-Clark/WVUHS are Liable for Kruger's Purported Intentional Misconduct.

The factual allegations presented in Marietta's Second Amended Complaint do not state, show, or imply any negligence on the part of Camden-Clark/WVUHS. Marietta's claims are those of intentional conduct based on Kruger's participation in the *Qui Tam*. In its opening paragraph of the Second Amended Complaint, Marietta asserted that the tortious action on which it bases this suit was undertaken "with the express approval of Defendant Camden through certain of its officers or directors." As Marietta explained, its impetus for filing the Second Amended Complaint is "to hold Defendant Camden accountable for its *involvement*, *approval*, *authorization*, *sanctioning*, *support*, *and participation* in the egregious intentional misuse of the judicial system and to recover for the extensive damages that it caused" due to Relators' filing of the *Qui Tam* and Kruger's involvement in that effort. Marietta alleges that all Kruger's allegedly-tortious actions were "imbued with the authorization of Defendant Camden."

Likewise, Marietta's references to Kruger's actions for which Camden-Clark/WVUHS are allegedly liable describe intentional — not negligent — behavior. The only difference between Marietta's Amended Complaint and Second Amended Complaint is the addition of the claim for negligent supervision; in amending, Marietta did not supply facts beyond those it alleges in support

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> J.A. 000794–846, Order re Defendants' Mot. Dismiss.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> J.A. 000063–96, Sec. Am. Compl. at ¶ 1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> J.A. 000063–96, Sec. Am. Compl. at ¶ 8 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> J.A. 000063–96, Sec. Am. Compl. at ¶ 4. Camden-Clark/WVUHS categorically denies Marietta's unfounded allegations concerning any involvement in Kruger's conduct. Discovery will show that Kruger intentionally concealed his actions from his employer.

of its other seven claims, all of which are claims of intentional conduct based on the participation of Mr. Kruger in the *Qui Tam*. In paragraphs 8 and 12 of the Second Amended Complaint, Marietta explains that, in filing suit, it "seeks to hold Defendant Camden accountable for its involvement, approval, authorization, sanctioning, support, and participation in the egregious *intentional* misuse of the judicial system," meaning Kruger's involvement in the *Qui Tam*. Marietta repeatedly claims that, through Kruger's actions, Camden-Clark/WVUHS "intentionally" caused harm. Marietta also asserts that "Kruger, within the scope of his employment for Defendant Camden, played an integral role in the scheme by helping to develop, plan, initiate, and pursue" the *Qui Tam*. Kruger's conduct was plainly pled as intentional and not negligent.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Court should answer the first certified question in the affirmative. Negligent supervision is a viable claim of independent tortious conduct recognized at common law. *C.C. v. Harrison Cty. Bd. of Educ.*, 245 W. Va. 594, 859 S.E.2d 762 (2021). The answer to the second certified question is equally plain: the elements of the claim track those of general negligence, with the additional requirement that the plaintiff prove incompetence on the part of the employee and the employer's knowledge of the same.

However, the Court's answer to the third certified question – whether intentional or reckless torts committed by an employee may form the basis for a claim for negligent supervision against the employer – should be "no." More than twenty years ago, a majority of sitting justices of this Court agreed that negligent conduct by an employee is a necessary predicate to employer liability for negligent supervision. *Taylor v. Cabell Huntington Hosp., Inc.*, 208 W. Va. 128, 124, 538 S.E.2d 719, 725 (2000) (per curiam). In 2021, this Court expressly confirmed what was

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> J.A. 000063–96, Sec. Am. Compl. at ¶¶ 105, 109–10.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> J.A. 000063–96, Sec. Am. Compl. at ¶ 43.

implicit in *Taylor*'s holding: Employers are not liable in negligent supervision for *intentional* acts of their employees. *C.C.*, 245 W. Va. at 606–07, 859 S.E.2d at 775. *C.C.*'s decision was announced in a signed opinion, and its holding on negligent supervision was joined by two of the justices currently sitting on this Court.

The Court should not upend the elements of negligent supervision as defined in its current jurisprudence. The limitation on employer liability announced in *Taylor* and endorsed by *C.C.* has been the law in this State for more than two decades. It has been adopted almost without exception by West Virginia's federal courts. *Stare decisis* should govern this Court's analysis, as the natural development of the common law has provided a clear and functional formulation of the cause of action that requires no revision. The elements as currently defined provide an appropriate mechanism to hold employers accountable for employee conduct that is actually under the purview of the employer's influence and control.

Indeed, intentional or reckless conduct by an employee should not serve as the basis for a negligent supervision claim against an employer. Deliberate employee misconduct unrelated to the conditions of employment is unforeseeable by employers and an extension of duty to encompass this unforeseeable conduct would place an unduly onerous burden on employers. Employers would be forced to monitor the personal characteristics and proclivities of their employees and intervene in their behavior to a degree beyond what is expected in any other relationship between adults. The Court should therefore answer the third certified question in the negative.

### STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Marietta asks the Court to overrule its long-standing precedent and expand liability of private employers to extend to intentional, unforeseeable torts committed by their employees.

Camden-Clark/WVUHS requests Rule 20 argument to address these issues of broad public significance.

### **ARGUMENT**

### I. West Virginia Recognizes a Common Law Claim for Negligent Supervision.

Negligent supervision is a viable claim under West Virginia common law. This point – the subject of the first certified question presented here – is uncontroversial. Though this Court has not had frequent opportunity to address the contours of negligent supervision, it has nevertheless consistently recognized the claim as an available variant on a traditional claim for negligence. *See, e.g., W. Va. Reg. Jail and Corr. Facility Auth. v. A.B.*, 234 W. Va. 492, 513, 766 S.E.2d 751, 772 (2014) (noting government agency may be subject to liability for negligent supervision if it violated "clearly established" law with respect to its training or supervision of corrections officer); *State ex rel. W. Va. State Police v. Taylor*, 201 W. Va. 554, 560, 499 S.E.2d 283, 289 n.7 (1997) (recognizing cause of action for similar theory of negligent hiring); *Thomson v. McGinnis*, 195 W. Va. 465, 470–71, 465 S.E.2d 922, 927–28 (1995) (same).

Unlike vicarious liability imposed by the doctrine of *respondeat superior*, negligent supervision is a cause of action based on primary or direct liability to the employer. In other words, liability under negligent supervision is not based on the employer-employee relationship but instead on whether an employer acted negligently in supervising the employee. *See Bourne v. Mapother & Mapother, P.S.C.*, 998 F. Supp.2d 495, 506 (S.D. W. Va. 2014); *see also Hamstead v. Former D. R. Walker*, No. 3:18-cv-79, 2019 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 238303, at \*28–29 (N.D. W. Va. Jun. 7, 2019). The claim arises from the failure of an employer to take reasonable care in supervising its agent so as to prevent foreseeable harm to third parties. *Bourne*, 998 F. Supp.2d at 506 (reasoning that a negligence action for failure to supervise arises when "the principal

negligently supervises its agents such that harm proximately results to a third party"). The Court should answer the first certified question in the affirmative and confirm negligent supervision as a viable negligence claim in West Virginia.

# II. Proof of Underlying Negligence by the Employee is an Essential Element of a Claim for Negligent Supervision.

# A. Negligent supervision incorporates general elements of negligence, with additional elements to define the scope of the employer's duty.

A claim for negligent supervision starts with the elements common to any negligence claim. "To succeed on [a] negligence claim, a plaintiff must establish by the preponderance of the evidence that the defendant owes him a duty, that there was a negligent breach of that duty, and that injuries received by the plaintiff resulted proximately from the breach of the duty." *Jones v. Logan Bd. of Educ.*, 247 W. Va. 463, 473, 881 S.E.2d 374, 383 (2022) (citing *Webb v. Brown & Williamson Tobacco Co.*, 121 W. Va. 115, 118, 21 S.E.2d 898, 899 (1939)). Likewise, in a claim for negligent supervision, the plaintiff must prove that the employer had a duty to protect the plaintiff from harm caused by its employee, that the employer breached that duty, and that the employer's breach of duty was a proximate cause of the plaintiff's harm. *See Launi v. Hampshire Cty. Prosecuting Atty's Office*, 480 F. Supp. 3d 724, 733 (N.D. W. Va. 2020) (citing *Ferrell v. Santander Consumer USA, Inc.*, 859 F. Supp. 2d 812, 817–18 (S.D.W. Va. 2012)).

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