IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 23-0569

SCA EFiled: Jan 19 2024

02:13PM EST

Transaction ID 71836504

CAMDEN-CLARK MEMORIAL HOSPITAL CORP.; CAMDEN-CLARK HEALTH SERVICES, INC.; WEST VIRGINIA UNITED HEALTH SYSTEM, d/b/a West Virginia University Health System; and WEST VIRGINIA UNIVERSITY HOSPITALS, INC.,

Petitioners, Defendants below,

 \mathbf{v} .

MARIETTA AREA HEALTHCARE; MARIETTA MEMORIAL HOSPITAL; and MARIETTA HEALTHCARE PHYSICIANS, INC.,

Respondents, Plaintiffs below.

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF

J. Zak Ritchie (WVSB # 11705)
Michael B. Hissam (WVSB #11526)
Max C. Gottlieb (WVSB #13201)
Carl W. Shaffer (WVSB #13260)
HISSAM FORMAN DONOVAN RITCHIE PLLC
P.O. Box 3983

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

The position advocated by WVU Medicine also blinks at the practical reality that employers often can, in fact, foresee the risk that an employee will engage in intentional or reckless conduct harmful to another. As always, it depends on the particular facts of a given case whether such a duty ultimately arises.

Take this case, for example. WVU Medicine authorized Kruger and senior Camden employees to pursue the *qui tam* using inside information and documents, with knowledge that the *qui tam* was designed to take down Marietta. The *qui tam* turned out to be a fraud designed to damage—if not eliminate—Marietta as a competitor in the healthcare marketplace. Marietta should be permitted to discover facts that could show WVU Medicine had a duty to supervise Kruger and other senior employees as they tortiously attacked Marietta using bogus legal process at WVU Medicine's behest, using WVU Medicine information and documents, and with some degree of involvement by WVU Medicine.

Of course, this is not to say that a duty to supervise will arise in every case—or even most cases—where an employee commits an intentional or reckless tort.

One can surely conjure such cases easily. But employers do have a duty to supervise with reasonable care *under the right circumstances*, and as will be explained below, that has long been the law in this state (and every other). Litigants like Marietta

Burrell, 602 S.W.3d 340, 350 (Tenn. 2020); Moore Freight Servs., Inc. v. Munoz, 545 S.W.3d 85, 97 (Tex. Ct. App. 2017); Graves v. N. E. Servs., Inc., 345 P.3d 619, 627 (Utah 2015); Brueckner v. Norwich Univ., 730 A.2d 1086, 1093 (Vt. 1999); A.H. by next friends C.H. v. Church of God in Christ, Inc., 831 S.E.2d 460, 468–73, 475 (Va. 2019); Garrison v. Sagepoint Fin., Inc., 345 P.3d 792, 801, 809–10 (Wash. Ct. App. 2015); Miller v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 580 N.W.2d 233, 238–39 (Wisc. 1998); Shafer v. TNT Well Serv., Inc., 285 P.3d 958, 962, 966–67 (Wyo. 2012).

are entitled to discover the facts to explore whether that duty arises under circumstances that give rise to a plausible claim for relief. And should a plaintiff fail to do so, courts (both federal and state) can and should employ the summary judgment device to dispense with it. That is how the rules are supposed to work.

Accordingly, the Court should reject WVU Medicine's proposed (and quite unprecedented) definition of negligent supervision because it improperly rules out—as a categorical matter—claims where employers have a duty of care in supervising their employees. Instead, the Court should adopt Marietta's formulation, which is based on longstanding principles of negligence and this Court's caselaw: negligent supervision arises when the employer negligently breaches a duty to supervise an employee, proximately causing the plaintiff's injuries.

III. An employee's intentional or reckless tort can give rise to a negligent supervision claim against the employer.

A. Employers have a duty to prevent employees from committing intentional and reckless torts that are foreseeable.

Foreseeability of harm is the most important marker of determining the existence of a legal duty in a particular case. *See* Syl. Pt. 4, *Jones v. Logan Cnty. Bd.* of *Educ.*, 247 W. Va. 463, --, 881 S.E.2d 374, 376 (2022).8 An injury is foreseeable if "the ordinary man in the defendant's position, knowing what he knew or should

⁸ Legal duty is the only element of negligence decided as a matter of law. *See* Syl. Pt. 9, *Strahin v. Cleavenger*, 216 W. Va. 175, 603 S.E.2d 197 (2004). The remaining elements, as well as the facts about foreseeability, are issues of fact for the factfinder. Syl. Pts 8, 14, *Marcus v. Staubs*, 230 W. Va. 127, 736 S.E.2d 360 (2012) (per curiam).

have known, [would] anticipate that harm of the general nature of that suffered was likely to result." *Id*. (citation omitted).

This Court has long recognized that employers have a duty to protect others from the foreseeable intentional—even criminal—acts of employees. "Usually, this obligation arises in two situations: (1) when a person has a special relationship which gives rise to a duty to protect another person from intentional misconduct or (2) when the person's affirmative actions or omissions have exposed another to a foreseeable high risk of harm from the intentional misconduct." *Miller v. Whitworth*, 193 W. Va. 262, 266, 455 S.E.2d 821, 825 (1995) (adopting *Restatement (Second) of Torts* §§ 315 & 302B cmt. e, respectively).

Particularly critical here, Section 315 of the *Restatement* incorporates

Sections 316 through 319. *See Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 315 cmt. c. And

Section 317 *specifically* imposes an obligation on employers to protect others from the intentional misconduct of employees under specified circumstances. *See Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 317; *see also Robertson v. LeMaster*, 171 W. Va. 607, 611, 301 S.E.2d 563, 567 (1983) (citing Section 317 of the *Restatement (Second) of Torts*). This Court has explained that these situations "are not exclusive." *Miller*, 193 W. Va. at 266, 455 S.E.2d at 825. The Court thus takes an adaptable approach to the duty to protect from the intentional acts of employees that, again, turns on the facts of a given case.9

⁹ This Court's adaptable approach is more akin to the broader approach to negligent supervision taken in the *Restatement of Agency*. See generally Restatement (Third) of Agency § 7.05.

Employers in West Virginia can therefore be directly liable for the foreseeable criminal, intentional, or reckless acts of their employees. For instance, in West Virginia Regional Jail and Correctional Facility Authority v. A.B., that the public employer could be liable for the criminal misconduct of an employee seemed to be implicitly understood. 234 W. Va. at 513–17, 766 S.E.2d at 772–76. In Overbaugh v. McCutcheon, this Court explained that an employer could have a duty to protect others from an employee's drunk driving—recklessness—again, if the facts showed foreseeability on the part of the employer. 183 W. Va. 386, 391–92, 396 S.E.2d 153, 158–59 (1990); see also Speedway LLC v. Jarrett, 248 W. Va. 448, 456–57, 889 S.E.2d 21, 29–30 (2023) (recognizing that an employer could owe a duty of reasonable care to protect others from the reckless conduct of an intoxicated employee under certain circumstances); State ex rel. State v. Gustke, 205 W. Va. 72, 81, 516 S.E.2d 283, 292 (1999) (stating that drunk driving is reckless).

And although perhaps not perfectly on point, in *Jones v. Logan County Board* of *Education*, this Court recently found that a public employer could be found negligent for its employees' failure to protect a student from violent bullying. 247 W. Va. 463, 581 S.E.2d at 384–85.¹¹ Finally, as noted above, these cases unite West Virginia with every other state and the District of Columbia in holding that

¹⁰ The Court did not address whether the public employer, a state agency, had sovereign immunity or if the claim was covered by the State's insurance policy.

¹¹ The difference in *Jones* was that the Board's employees negligently failed to protect a student from other students in the Board's charge. *See* 247 W. Va. 463, 581 S.E.2d at 384–85. The situation is nonetheless parallel to employer-employee.

employers *can* have a duty to protect others from the intentional or reckless misconduct of their employees.

This case fits neatly within the Court's longstanding precedent. WVU

Medicine authorized Kruger and other senior employees to pursue the *qui tam* takedown attempt against Marietta and retained some degree of involvement—yet it
failed to properly supervise the effort—giving rise to possible liability for
"affirmative actions or omissions [that] have exposed another to a foreseeable high
risk of harm from the intentional misconduct." *Miller*, 193 W. Va. at 266, 455 S.E.2d
at 825. WVU Medicine also furnished Kruger with access to inside information and
documents, which implicates liability for failing to supervise an employee "using a
chattel of the master" when the master knows or should know what its servant is up
to. *Restatement (Second) of Torts* § 317. Discovery may well yield additional facts
bearing on WVU Medicine's ability to foresee the intentional harm Kruger and
other senior WVU Medicine employees inflicted on Marietta.

For its part, WVU Medicine relies on this Court's general observation in *Miller* that the intentional acts of others are typically difficult to foresee. *See* 193 W. Va. at 266, 455 S.E.2d at 825. But this Court has cautioned against reading too much into that observation, calling it "mere[] dicta" and a "generality." *Marcus*, 230 W. Va. at 136–37, 736 S.E.2d at 369–70. Otherwise, WVU Medicine points to brief remarks in this Court's recent decision in *C.C. v. Harrison County Board of Education*, 245 W. Va. 594, 859 S.E.2d 762 (2021). But for reasons explained below, those remarks are confined to that case and not controlling here.

- B. *C.C.*'s remarks on underlying intentional acts are not binding.
 - 1. The remarks that purport to bar negligent supervision claims based on underlying intentional acts are dicta.

In *CC*., this Court affirmed a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal of an insufficiently pled negligent supervision claim. Specifically, this Court concluded that the plaintiff's complaint was "factually deficient in stating a claim for negligent supervision because the complaint does not set forth factual allegations to provide notice to the Board that it is stating a claim for negligent supervision." *C.C.*, 245 W. Va. at 607, 859 S.E.2d at 775 (emphasis added). Though that was the extent of the Court's holding, WVU Medicine nonetheless relies on additional remarks suggesting that underlying intentional conduct can never support a negligent supervision claim. This additional analysis was unnecessary to the decision, and this Court is not bound to it here. See State ex rel. Med. Assurance of W. Virginia, Inc. v. Recht, 213 W. Va. 457, 471, 583 S.E.2d 80, 94 (2003) ("[D]icta . . . is language unnecessary to the decision in the case and therefore not precedential.").

We also know these additional remarks did *not* bring about a sea-change to the law by establishing an unprecedented, categorical limitation on claims of negligent supervision, because the Court *did not* cite to or adopt a new syllabus point announcing the apparent new rule that WVU Medicine advocates. *See State ex rel. Vanderra Res., LLC v. Hummel,* 242 W. Va. 35, 42–43, 829 S.E.2d 35, 42–43 (2019) ("[W]e have made it clear that the language utilized in our syllabus points, rather than our dicta, is controlling. As we have repeatedly stated, new points of law . . . will be articulated through syllabus points as required by our state

constitution.") (cleaned up). To paraphrase Justice Walker, "if this Court were to create [a new legal] requirement, it would do so in a syllabus point and not in dicta." *Id.* Indeed, Justice Hutchison, concurring in *C.C.*, alerted future litigants and circuit courts to the very remarks now relied on by WVU Medicine. *See C.C.*, 245 W. Va. at 615, 859 S.E.2d at 783 (Hutchison, J., concurring in part, dissenting in part) ("I warn lawyers not to rely upon the majority's legal discussion [regarding negligent supervision] because it has little precedential value beyond the unique facts of this case.").

2. The decision in *Taylor*—the only decision of *this Court* relied upon by *C.C.*—is a per curiam decision with little or no precedential weight here.

Even if not dicta, when this Court traces the error back from *C.C.*, it will find that it was the federal district courts—and not this Court—that first misapprehended (and then perpetuated this erroneous reading of) this Court's decision in *Taylor*. Indeed, in *C.C.*, the only decision this Court cited from *its own* precedent was *Taylor*—and no other. So we must look to *Taylor*. But even if that case could be read to support the commentary in *C.C.*—and it does not—this Court should give it little to no precedential weight in this case.

Although no longer issued since the advent of memorandum decisions, per curiam decisions have a long history at the Court. This Court's decision in *Walker v. Doe*, 210 W. Va. 490, 491, 558 S.E.2d 290, 291 (2001), *overruled in part by State v. McKinley*, 234 W. Va. 143, 764 S.E.2d 303 (2014), sets forth this Court's view on the precedential value of per curiam decisions. Syllabus Point 3 in *Walker* describes the rule as follows:

Per curiam opinions have precedential value as an application of settled principles of law to facts necessarily differing from those at issue in signed opinions. The value of a per curiam opinion arises in part from the guidance such decisions can provide to the lower courts regarding the proper application of the syllabus points of law relied upon to reach decisions in those cases.

Id. Put another way, Walker instructs that per curiam opinions have precedential weight only to the extent they can be used to show lower courts how already settled legal rules can apply to different sets of facts. Therefore, to the extent the facts material to the legal analysis in a per curiam decision are meaningfully different from another case at bar, the per curiam decision is of little to no weight. And that makes perfect sense.

Viewed through this lens, *Taylor* offers little basis for the belief that *C.C.* somehow established the novel and far-reaching categorical rule of negligence law that WVU Medicine advocates. In *Taylor*, in which the plaintiff alleged a nurse's negligence, this Court stated that the plaintiff's negligent supervision claim against her employer was moot because the jury found the plaintiff had failed to establish that the employee nurse's negligence caused the plaintiff's injury. 208 W. Va. at 134, 538 S.E.2d at 725. Critically, there were *no allegations* that the nurse's conduct was intentional and, therefore, there was no reason or opportunity for this Court to discuss an employee's intentional versus negligent conduct as a basis for a negligent supervision claim against the employer. And it certainly did not render a new syllabus point on the issue. Since *Taylor* was the only decision of this Court that was cited as precedent in *C.C.*, its minimal precedential value means that this Court in *C.C.* was almost certainly not intending to establish such a sweeping new

rule (which, as noted, would make West Virginia an extreme outlier in negligence law nationwide).

3. Federal courts are split on applying *C.C.*

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